Serial: 166997

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2010-CA-00072-COA

ALBERT KEA

FILED

Appellant

ν.

JAN 1 3 2011

LISA KEYS AND STATE FARM INSURANCE COMPANIES

SUPREME COURT CLERK

Appellees

ORDER

This matter came before the Court on Motion to Strike References in Brief of Appellant to Matters Which Are Not Part of This Record, filed by appellee Lisa Keys, and Response of Albert Kea to Lisa Keys' Motion to Strike References in Brief of Appellant to Matters Which Are Not Part of This Record, filed by the appellant.

The Court finds that the motion to strike is well taken and should be granted.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR OF LAW IN OVERRULING ALBERT'S MOTION TO DISMISS BECAUSE THE DEFECTS IN LISA'S PETITION WERE INSUFFICIENT TO CONFER JURISDICTION ON THE COURT.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN REVIVING LISA'S PETITION FOR REPLEVIN AFTER LISA HAD DISMISSED HER CLAIM AND WHERE SHE HERSELF ARGUED THAT THE COURT LACKED JURISDICTION TO PROCEED BECAUSE HER PETITION WAS NOT PENDING.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DISMISS LISA'S CLAIM BECAUSE HER SWORN FILINGS IN A PRIOR BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDING PRECLUDED HER FROM MAKING CONTRADICTORY CLAIMS IN THIS SUIT.
- IV. THE CHANCELLOR ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FAILING TO AWARD THE PROPERTY TO ALBERT BECAUSE OF AN ERRONEOUS BELIEF THAT HE HAD NO AUTHORITY TO ADJUDICATE ALBERT'S EQUITABLE INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY.
- V. THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT'S AWARD OF THE PROPERTY TO LISA.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Because the course of the proceedings and the facts are so inextricably intertwined, Kea

will discuss them together rather than separate Trick or or 13.11

The perjury charge:

¹ Kea will cite the record in the Sapreme Court in No. 2006-KA-01383-COA, the criminal case against Albert for perjury as CA followed by the page number. He will cite that transcript as T. followed by the page number. As for the record and transcript in the replevin case, he will cite the record as R. followed by the volume and page number. This Court can take judicial notice of the records before the Court in a related case. Euclid-Mississippi v. Western Cas. & Sur. Co., 249 Miss. 547, 571, 163 So.2d 676, 682 (1964). In any event, the facts as related herein are consistent with the facts in the Court of Appeals' opinion reversing Albert's perjury conviction. Kea v. State, 986 So.2d 358 (Miss. 2008).

Albert J. Kea was indicted in October 2005 on one count of perjury in the Circuit Court of Simpson County. CP. 1. The charges arose out of a lawsuit he filed against Entergy after his home burned to the ground. Kea's Magee, Mississippi home burned to the ground on May 23, 1998. T. 13. Kea had been in an automobile accident in May 1998. He was in the hospital for a week or ten days. T. 217. He was released from the hospital on a Friday afternoon. T. 217. The fire happened the next day.

Kea's house was insured, and he settled with his insurance company. However, Kea sued Entergy Mississippi claiming that the fire was caused by a blown transformer. T. 16. At issue in that case was a list of items Kea provided to Entergy as having been burned in the fire and about which he testified in the trial against Entergy. T. 18. These items consisted of various antiques and collectibles of substantial value. T. 22-23.

Prior to the trial against Entergy, Kea's son Bob contacted the Entergy lawyers claiming that the items his father was claiming had burned in the fire belonged to him (Bob) and that the items were not burned in the fire but were in Bob's home in Colorado. Entergy did not disclose this information to Albert prior to trial but, instead, called Bob to testify consistent with what he told Entergy's lawyers. The civil case was dismissed.

The perjury charges concerned Albert's testimony at the Entergy trial about the collectibles. In this trial, Bob, as he did in the civil trial, testified against his father and told the jury that the collectibles belonged to him and his wife Lisa. Lisa also testified that the collectibles did not belong to Albert. Albert, on the other hand, testified that the items belonged to him and that, as far as he knew, the collectibles were in the house when it burned down the day after he got out of the hospital. According to him, he had given money to Robert who had purchased them for Albert on various trips both here and abroad. Albert called several witnesses

who testified that they saw Bob at his father's house while Albert was in the hospital and that Bob was seen removing items from the house.

Bob admitted in his testimony that he had had a few run-ins with the law over the course of his life but led the jury to believe that he was a reformed man. It was not until **after** his father's criminal trial, however, that the full extent of Bob's criminality was learned. The jury, not having been privy to the full extent of Bob's extensive on-going criminal history, apparently believed Bob and found Albert guilty of perjury. CP. 36. The trial court (Judge Marcus Gordon) sentenced Albert Kea to serve eight years and pay a fine of \$10,000. CP. 41. Albert, unlike his son, had never had any run-ins with the law prior to the perjury charge.

After Albert's sentencing, Bob was exposed as having a criminal career much greater than that he admitted to during the trial, the details of which are outlined below. Once Albert learned these new facts, he filed with this Court (in February 2007) a Motion For Remand for an Evidentiary Hearing in order that this new evidence could be submitted to the trial court. The Motion was denied on February 28, 2007. Copies of the documents can be found in the perjury record in this Court.

The perjury trial:

Kimberly Howland, one of the attorneys who represented Entergy in the civil case filed by Kea, testified that she saw the items in the typed list at the Colorado home of Kea's son Bob in 2004 and, thus, they could not have been destroyed in the 1998 fire. T. 26. She also testified that Bob Kea showed her documentation that the items were purchased and were owned by Bob and his wife Lisa. T. 26. Entergy did not disclose this information to Kea prior to trial. T. 27. According to Howland, Kea took the stand at the civil trial in December 2004 and swore to tell the truth. T. 16, 28. He testified that the items in the typewritten list were owned by him and

that they were destroyed in the fire. T. 20.30. In that same trial, Albert's son Bob Kea took the stand and testified that the items belonged to him. T. 30.

On cross-examination, Howland admitted that she did not find Bob Kea; Bob contacted her to report his father's alleged fraud. T. 32.

The only evidence that the collectibles did not belong to Albert was provided by Bob and Bob's wife Lisa. Bob was Albert's son from a previous marriage. When Albert and his wife divorced, their two boys were young and Albert's wife was awarded custody. Albert's ex-wife moved and Albert was unable to locate her and their two sons. T. 212. In 1972, Bob was 18 and he stole a car. Bob testified that he stole the car to look for his father. Albert got a call from Bob's grandmother asking for Albert's help. T. 213. Albert drove to Denver Colorado and got his son out of jail. T. 213.

Bob testified that he lived in Colorado and that he did not work but has been disabled for the last six and a half years. T. 41: He admitted that he had been convicted of car theft in 1972 when he was seventeen. T. 41-42. When he was twenty-three, he was convicted of menacing and resisting arrest. T. 42. In 1990, when he was thirty-six, he was convicted for passing bad checks and for making a false statement on a passport (this is important for reasons that will soon become apparent). T. 42. Bob also admitted that he had used various names over the years; Robert John Kea was his birth name but he had also been known as Robert John Cook, Robert John Beverly, Robert John Anderson and Robert John Keys. T. 42-43. Bob did not list for the jury the name of Robert John Key – the name in which his passport was issued.

² Bob's attempts to minimize his criminal activity at the perjury trial and to portray himself as a reformed man were belied by his continued criminal activity after the trial, specifically the theft of numerous items from the Park Service which cumulated in a warrant being issued for his arrest and his suicide once he was cornered and realized he would no longer be able to lie his way out of his crimes as he had in the past.

Bob testified that he had worked as a nurse for twenty years. T. 43. He went to nursing school twice because the second time he was on the lam so he attended nursing school a second time under a different name so that he could earn a living. T. 44. Bob testified that the items contained in the list drawn up by his father did not burn up in the 1998 fire. T. 46. At that time, the items, which belonged to him and his wife Lisa, were in his (Bob's) home in Dallas. T. 46. Bob supplied various papers that allegedly proved where the items were brought.

The **real** story on Bob Kea, however, was not uncovered until **after** the trial. Albert's trial took place at the end of June 2006. According to a December 25, 2006, article in the *Rocky Mountain News*, sometime after that, Lisa and Bob became estranged and, in September 2006, Lisa reported Bob to the authorities. *See Article, attached to Albert's Initial Brief in the criminal case*. It seems that Bob's recounting of his criminal career left out the fact that he had long made his living by stealing objects from small museums across the country. Sometimes in order to steal these items, he hid them in a fake oxygen tank. He then sold at many of them on e-bay where he was aptly known as the "Travelling Collector." *Id*.

When Bob learned that Lisa had turned on him, he faxed letters to Lisa's mother (who lived in Mendenhall, Mississippi), claiming that Lisa had committed various criminal offenses, including but not limited to, insurance fraud. *Appendix I, Ex, B to Albert's brief in the criminal case*. Apparently the letters were an attempt by Bob to convince Lisa that it was not in her best interests to cooperate with authorities.³

In November of 2006, the federal government filed a criminal complaint against Bob in federal district court in Colorado. See Complaint attached to Albert's brief in the criminal case.

³ Although she denied it at the trial of the instant case, it was apparently these letters and other information implicating Lisa in past criminal misconduct which led her to move to dismiss her

The complaint charged Bob with stealing an antique rifle worth \$4000 to \$6000 from the Estes Park Museum in Colorado and 15 antique Elgin watches taken from the Elgin Area Historical Society Museum. When officials went to arrest Bob, they discovered that he had fled to Texas. He was tracked to a motel near Amarillo. When officers observed Bob leaving his car to walk into the motel, they approached him and identified themselves. Bob got back into his car and rammed the officers' vehicle. He then drove a mile down the interstate, pulled into a parking lot near a gas station, and shot himself in the head and died. See, Appendices to Albert's brief in the perjury trial.

In Albert's defense, there were several witnesses who testified to having seen the various collectibles in Albert's house over the years. Larry Blair worked for a pest control business in Brookhaven. T. 145. He began servicing Albert's house approximately once a month beginning in 1995. T. 146. On some of those occasions, Albert's wife Ann would ask Larry to sit and have coffee and cake with her. T. 146. Several of the collectibles at issue were displayed in the kitchen. T. 147. Ann would often bring out an item to show Larry saying, "Look what I've got this time." T. 147. Larry was asked to review the photos of the collectibles and identify those he had seen in the Kea home. T. 149. He was able to identify several that had been in the Kea home prior to the fire. T. 149.

Mary J. Starling testified that she used to live next door to the Keas, was a good friend to Ann and visited in the house all the time. T. 151-52. Starling looked through the photographs of collectibles and identified those she recognized as having been in the Kea home. T. 152-167. Starling was familiar with Bob Kea. She knew that Ann and Albert had given him money on numerous occasions. T. 169. When Albert was in the hospital just before his house burned

replevin action in March of 2008. Unfortunately, the statute of limitations appears to have run on most, if not all, of these crimes.

down, Starling saw that Bob was staying at his father's house. She testified that on one day, she saw Bob came out of the front door with a garbage bag filled with stuff from the house. T. 169:

Teresa Joy Tisdale testified that Albert Kea was her husband's uncle. T. 177. Tisdale did not really know Bob Kea but knew him enough to recognize him. T. 177. Tisdale's husband had proposed to her in 1994. Around Christmas that year, Tisdale's fiancé took her to meet his family. His mother lived in an apartment on the Kea property. T. 178. Tisdale was outside smoking when she saw Bob Kea taking a gun out of his father's window. He wrapped it in a blanket and put it in the trunk of his car. T. 178. Tisdale recognized some of the items pictured in the photos of the collectibles at issue in the Entergy lawsuit as items that had been in Albert's home. T. 170.

Lisa Terry Holloway has known Albert and Ann Kea practically all of her life. T. 182.

Albert's father was married to Holloway's aunt and he (Albert's father) practically raised her.

T. 183. Holloway would assist Ann in her housework. T. 183. She identified many of the collectibles as items she had seen in Ann and Albert's house. 183-186. She remembers that just prior to the fire that burned up Albert's home, Albert was in the hospital. During that time, she saw Bob taking things out of the house and putting them in the trunk of his car. T. 187. Bob was out of breath and so Holloway asked if he needed some help. She and her sister Carol and their half-brother Buddy (now deceased) then assisted him in loading boxes into his van. T. 188. She did not see what was in the boxes. She spent twenty to thirty minutes assisting Bob. T. 189. Afterwards, Bob left with the boxes still in his van. T. 189.

Carol McMillan, like her sister Lisa, had also known Albert and Ann Kea all of her life.

T. 194. She doesn't remember when it was exactly (she remembers that Albert was in the

5 John John Jak

hospital) but she recalls that she, Lisa, and Buddy helped Bob load some small boxes into his van. T. 195, 198.

Helen Williams is Albert's sister. In the 1990s, she lived with her brother. T. 200. She was able to identify many of the collectibles as having been in Albert and Ann's home. T. 201-204. She had also seen the photographs themselves in their home. T. 204. After the fire, Helen testified, Bob offered to help his father figure out what the items were worth. He took all of the photos with him and said he would make up a list to help his dad out. T. 210.

Albert testified that his wife Ann, who died in August 2003, liked collectibles. A lot of the things she wanted, she would have Bob purchase for her. Ann and Albert would give Bob cash and he would pay for items with his credit card and in this way Bob could get free airline miles. T. 214: Bob would travel and bring back magazines and Ann would point out the things she wanted and Bob would obtain them on his next trip and bring the receipts back to Albert. T.

Photographs of the collectibles had been stored in a safe and Albert was able to retrieve them after the fire. T. 224. Bob offered to help his father draw up a list of the lost items since he had purchased most of them for his father using Albert's money. T. 224.

Right after Ann died, Bob approached his father and asked him for \$50,000 for a down payment on a home. T. 227. Albert refused. His other children needed his help, and Albert was ashamed of Bob's criminal activity. T. 226. A few weeks later, Lisa approached Albert and told him that if he did not give Bob the \$50,000, Bob was going to jail. T. 227. Lisa left angry when Albert refused to give them any money. Albert had not talked to the two since then. T. 227.4

⁴ The timing of Bob's request for \$50,000 coincides with the time that federal authorities finally caught up with Bob on the 1991 federal bank fraud charges for which he had been on the lam for 13 years. See App. I, Ex. A to Albert's brief in the criminal case. Coincidentally, the timing of

Albert testified that he did not know that Bob came to his house while Albert was in the hospital. 7.228.

On redirect, the prosecution, over the defendant's objection, introduced Bob and Lisa's passports to corroborate their testimony that they had been in Turkey the week before the fire. The passports were issued to Robert and Lisa Key. The passports were later amended to identify the bearers as Robert and Lisa Keys.

The appeal of the perjury charge:

On appeal of the perjury conviction, the Court of Appeals reversed Albert's conviction. Kea v. State, 986 So.2d 358 (Miss. 2008). In so doing, the Court noted that Bob's passport was obtained through fraud because he used an alias to obtain it. Furthermore, the Court held that the passports containing the visa stamps purporting to show that Bob and Lisa were in Turkey at the time the other witnesses claimed they were in Mississippi taking items from Albert's house were improperly admitted because the people who supposedly affixed the visa stamps did not authenticate them. Id. 362. The Court also reversed because the jury was not given a two-witness jury instruction. Id.

The Replevin case:

On September 11, 2006, Lisa filed a "Petition to Intervene and Declaration of Replevin" citing Robert Kea, Albert Kea and Kenneth Lewis, the Sheriff of Simpson County, as defendants. R.I/6-8. She claimed that certain property had been seized "from the home of Robert Kea" and that she, Lisa, was the legal owner of the property of "the personal property seized during the

Bob's coming forward to the Entergy attorneys then coincided with his need for someone to put in a good word for him on his then pending criminal case in Colorado. As the article in the *Rocky Mountain News* indicates, Bob only **appeared** to have turned his life around at that point and the United States District Court Judge was deceived into giving Bob a light sentence, order only that Bob to pay back \$10,000 in bad checks and serve time on probation. See, App. I, Ex. A to Albert's initial brief in the criminal case.

trial of State of Mississippi v. Albert Kea." R.I/6. She gave no itemized list of the property; nor did she give its value. Furthermore, she did not swear to the complaint, which was sworn to by her then attorney, Daniel D. Ware. R.I/7.

On September 28, 2006, Albert filed his Answer and defense. R.I/10-13. He raised, among other defenses, that the petition failed to state a claim and that the petition did not specifically list the items requested to be replevined nor gave any values or descriptions as required by §11-31-101(b), Miss. Code Ann. R.I/11.

After failing to comply with discovery requests and a court order directing her to do so,⁶ Lisa on February 20, 2007, filed a "Motion to Amend Petition to Intervene and Declaration of Replevin." R.I/29-34. No order was entered on the motion to amend.

Subsequently, without ever obtaining leave to amend her original complaint, Lisa requested that her case be dismissed. By order dated March 4, 2008, the circuit judge dismissed Lisa's case in an order entitled "Order Dismissing Case Without Prejudice." R.I/45. Specifically, that order states in pertinent part:

THIS DAY this matter came on for hearing by motion of the Plaintiff in light of new evidence found by the Plaintiff, and the court after hearing and considering same, founds [sic] that said motion is well taken and should be granted.

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the motion is well taken and is hereby granted.

R.I/45.

On April 11, 2008, State Farm Insurance Company wrote to Judge Evans claiming an interest in seven items being held by the sheriff. State Farm had learned from Robert's brother

⁵ The evidence at trial subsequently established that Robert had delivered twenty-five items to the Sheriff on 6/27/06. They were not seized from Robert's house as Lisa's petition claimed.

⁶ After Lisa refused to comply with Albert's request for discovery by refusing to submit for a deposition, Albert moved to compel which was granted. R.I/17-19, 23. Thereafter, Lisa

that Robert had fraudulently claimed some of the items which were being held by the sheriff by claiming they were stolen in a burglary in 1994. As a result of that fraudulent claim, State Farm had paid Robert for the allegedly stolen items.R.I/52-54. State Farm eventually claimed only four of the items.

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