IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CA-00072-SCT



ALBERT J. KEA

APPELLANT

V.

SHERIFF KENNETH LEWIS, ROBERT KEA, LISA KEYS AND STATE FARM INSURANCE COMPANIES`

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record for Appellee certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Mississippi Supreme Court and Mississippi Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

- 1. Honorable Robert G. Evans, Circuit Court Judge [deceased];
- 2. Albert J. Kea, Defendant/Appellant;
- 3. Lisa Keys, Plaintiff/Appellee;

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

Judicial estoppel is supposed to be applied in order "to prevent a party from achieving unfair advantage by taking inconsistent positions in litigation." *Copiah County v. Oliver*, 2010 WL 3785534 (Miss. 2010). Importantly, this Court has said that: "[J]udicial estoppel is designed to protect the judicial system and applies where 'intentional self-contradiction is being used as a means of obtaining unfair advantage in a forum provided for suitors seeking justice." *Id*, citing *Kirk v. Pope*, 973 So.2d at 991 (emphasis added). It is not at all clear that judicial estoppel would apply

⁶ A copy of §§ 42.001 and 42.002 V.T.C.A. is attached as an addendum to this Brief.

in the context presented here such that Lisa Keys, should it be determined that she and her husband did not properly itemize these pieces of personal property on their bankruptcy schedule, would be judicially estopped from arguing that these pieces of personal property were hers and not Albert's, as Albert wishes this Court to believe. Nevertheless, even assuming, *arguendo*, that judicial estoppel can be applied in this context, the facts of this case do not support its application here.

Under Mississippi law, in order for judicial estoppel to apply, three (3) requirements must be proven.

- "(1) The party is judicially estopped only if its position is clearly inconsistent with the previous one;
- (2) The court must have accepted the previous position; and
- (3) The non-disclosure must not have been inadvertent."

Kirk, 973 So. 2d at 991 (Miss. 2007), citing Superior Crewboats, Inc., 374 F.3d 330 at 335 (5th Cir. 2004); also see Copiah County v. Oliver, 2010 WL 3785534 (Miss. Sept. 30, 2010).

However, there is nothing in the record of the subject case that would enable an answer in the affirmative to any of these requirements. In particular, there is nothing in the record demonstrating there was an "intentional self-contradiction" made by Lisa Keys.

The limited evidence on this issue consists of Robert and Lisa Keys' bankruptcy petition with attached schedules, and some limited testimony adduced at trial. That trial testimony shows that Lisa Keys, at best, **denied** that the subject property **was not** included on her bankruptcy schedules or, at worst, did not know whether the property was or was not included since her husband handled that. (TT at 69-70, 89-90). Later on, Lisa Keys did testify that this property was not listed on the bankruptcy schedules **as her assets**. (TT at 115). This, of course, is correct based on a cursory

review of Schedules B and C of the bankruptcy petition. Clearly these schedules give no indication which property of the estate was Roberts, which was Lisa's, which was jointly owned, or which was community property under Texas law. Just as Lisa Keys testified, none of these pieces of property were listed as hers. Furthermore, several of the subject pieces of property were purchased by Bob and would have been his, not Lisa's, at the time of the bankruptcy. (TT at 99-113). After his death in 2006, however, an estate was opened for Robert Keys and Lisa was awarded all of the items out of his estate. *Id*.

Therefore, based on the evidence before us, there is nothing to support Albert's argument that Lisa Keys' position of ownership of this subject property is clearly inconsistent with the position taken by her and her husband in their 2000 bankruptcy. This is distinctly different from the case of *Kirk v. Pope*, relied on by Albert, in large part because potential legal causes of action are expected to be listed with enough specificity to inform the trustee of the nature of the complete legal claim which the debtor has and to enable the trustee to determine whether there is a need to investigate further. *Tilly v. Anixter, Inc.*, 332 B.R. 501 (D. Conn. 2005); *also see In Re: Mohring*, 142 B.R. 389, 395 (E.D. Cal. 1992). Thus, the "mere omission of a claim in bankruptcy filings is tantamount to a representation that no such claim existed." *Kirk*, 973 So. 2d at 991, citing *Superior Crewboats*, *Inc.*, 374 F.3d at 335 (citing *Browning Mfg.*, 179 F.3d at 210). Based on this reasoning, the Court in *Kirk* went on to hold that "Kirk's failure to list the lawsuit represented that no such suit existed and is inconsistent with his subsequent pursuit of the claim." *Id.*

Physical pieces of property, however, are different. With respect to items of physical, personal property it has been noted that "there are no bright line rules for how much itemization and specificity is required." *See e.g., In re Mohring,* 142 B.R. 389, 395 (E.D. Cal. 1992); *John R.*

Kennel, 8A C.J.S. Bankruptcy § 349 (Supp. 2010). The burden has been described as "reasonable particularization under the circumstances," recognizing that "it would be silly to require a debtor to itemize every dish and fork, but every bankrupt must do enough itemizing to enable the trustee to determine whether to investigate further." *In re Mohring*, 142 B.R. at 395. The Fifth Circuit likewise has held that reasonableness under the circumstances applies. *In the matter of Tomasek*, 2006 WL 925536 (5th. Cir. 2006).

Looking at the bankruptcy petition of Robert and Lisa Keys through the looking glass of whether there was "reasonable particularization under the circumstances," it is helpful to first examine the context of the decision in *In re Mohring*. The debtor in *In re Mohring* used a generic listing of household goods as a claimed exemption. In particular, the debtor's claimed exemption was "household goods and furnishings" valued collectively at \$1,000, referencing California Code of Civil Procedure § 703.140. *In re Mohring*, 142 B.R. at 391. However, the court decided that this was inadequate, holding that a generic listing of household goods for purposes of claiming an exemption was ambiguous and had to be construed against the debtor. *In re Mohring*, 142 B.R. at 395. Significantly, this decision was based on the California State Exemption Statutes which permitted an exemption of \$200.00 per each item of household goods for an unlimited number of items. *In re Mohring*, 142 B.R. at 395. The court in *In re Mohring* held: "[I]n short, when the State's exemptions are on a per item basis, detailed itemization is required." *Id.*

In the instant case, however, the Keys' exemptions were based on the Texas statutes. In this regard, the Texas household goods' exemption is different from the one in California. It is much more general, and generically states: "[H]ome furnishings, including family heirlooms." §42.002(a)(1) V.T.C.A. Indeed, the law in Texas is that a debtor may generally list home furnishings

as claimed exemptions, just as Robert and Lisa Keys did on their schedules, but once a party objects to the claimed exemptions, then the debtor must specifically itemize. *In re R. D. Wright*, 99 B.R. 339, 341 (N.D. Texas 1989). There being no evidence of a creditor filing an objection to the Keys' exemption claim, their general description was adequate; and there is no evidence that their bankruptcy petition did not properly cover the property which is at issue here. Thus, Albert Kea cannot satisfy the first requirement needed for judicial estoppel to apply.

The second requirement which Albert must establish in order for judicial estoppel to apply is that the court must have accepted the previous position. For reasons similar to those discussed above, since it is by no means clear that the subject property was not included in the Keys' bankruptcy petition, there is no evidence that the bankruptcy court was operating under the belief that the subject property was not included in the bankruptcy estate. Accordingly, Albert Kea cannot satisfy the second requirement needed for judicial estoppel to apply.

The third and final requirement for judicial estoppel to apply is that the non-disclosure must not have been inadvertent. In this regard, it has been held that "[A] debtor's non-disclosure is 'inadvertent' only when, in general, the debtor either lacks knowledge of the undisclosed claims or has no motive for their concealment." *Kirk v. Pope*, 973 So. 2d at 991, quoting *Browning Mfg.*, 179 F.3d at 210; *see also Mississippi Power and Light Co. v. Cook*, 832 So. 2d 474, 482 (Miss. 2002), holding that "the representation must be false, or must have the effect of misleading the other party to his inquiry . . . " *Id.* As previously noted, this is essentially an "intentional self-contradiction." *Copiah County v. Oliver, supra*.

In the instant case, even if we assume that the subject property was not included in the Keys' bankruptcy petition, there is absolutely no evidence that Lisa Keys knew that the bankruptcy

petition failed to include their subject property; nor is there any evidence that she had a motive for concealing it and intentionally did so. Lisa's husband, Bob, was the one who handled the bankruptcy matter, as Lisa testified in the trial. (TT at 69-70). Moreover, this subject property was really of relatively insignificant value, as evidenced by the receipts which were marked into evidence. (Exs. 12, 15-24). Therefore, little would be gained by concealing their existence from the trustee, assuming that was even done. Thus, there was no motive to conceal this property. Finally, the evidence before us certainly does not show that Lisa Keys made any willfully false representations in the bankruptcy proceeding and engaged in an intentional self-contradiction, as the law requires in order for judicial estoppel to apply. Therefore, Albert Kea has not, and cannot, prove the requirements needed in order to establish that judicial estoppel is appropriate here, even if it is applicable in this context.

Additionally, even if the subject property was not listed by the Keys in their bankruptcy proceeding, that certainly would not allow it to vest to Albert Kea, as Albert wishes this Court to believe. (Appellant Brief at p. 20). Property of the debtor becomes property of the bankruptcy estate upon filing of the petition in bankruptcy, whether that property is scheduled or not. 11 U.S.C. § 541; § 554(d); see also In re Coastline Care, Inc., 299 B.R. 373, 377 (E.D.N.C. 2003); Pruitt v. Hancock Medical Center, 942 So. 2d 797, 802 (Miss. 2006). If the subject property belonging to Bob and Lisa Keys at the time they filed for bankruptcy was not adequately scheduled or otherwise made known to the trustee, then that property is vested in the Keys' bankruptcy estate, and the Keys' bankruptcy trustee must determine whether it is appropriate for the property to be disposed of or abandoned to

⁷ It should also be noted that one piece of property, the Nurse Bunnykins figurine, was purchased after the Keys' bankruptcy. Therefore, it would not have been included in the Keys' 2000 bankruptcy anyway, and, cannot be subject to Albert Kea's estoppel argument. (TT at 109-110; Ex. 20).

Lisa Keys. It certainly would not automatically belong to Albert Kea.

Finally, but of no little significance, if there is an issue of whether the subject property was included in the Keys' bankruptcy petition and schedules so that it was abandoned to them upon discharge, that should be an issue more appropriately to be decided by the Keys' bankruptcy court, as it would retain jurisdiction over the Keys' bankruptcy estate even after that estate is closed. *Travelers Indem. Co. v. Bailey, . . .* U.S. 129 S. Ct. 2195, 174 L. Ed. 2d 99 (2009); *Ins. Co. of N. Am. v. NGC Settlement Trust & Asbestos Claims Mgmt. Corp. (In re Nat'l Gypsum Co.)*, 118 F. 3d 1056 (5th Cir. 1997).

For these reasons, Albert Kea's request that this Court reverse the ruling of the trial court based on this Assignment of Error No. III and award the subject property to Albert Kea should be denied, and the trial court's decision affirmed.

IV. Appellant's Alleged "Equitable Interest" Is Waived and Procedurally Barred From Consideration on Appeal

A. This Issue Was Not Raised in the Trial Court and is Procedurally Barred

Albert Kea alleges for the first time on appeal that the trial court committed error with respect to a matter that was not raised by him in the trial court. It is, however, an elementary principle of Mississippi law that matters not raised in the trial court and instead raised for the first time on appeal are regarded as waived and are not to be considered by appellate courts. Laurel Family Clinic, P.A., 37 So. 3d at 667. In this case, Albert Kea now claims for the first time on appeal that he had an

⁸ Mississippi appellate courts have consistently admonished that allowing litigants to raise matters for the first time on appeal "would have the practical effect of depriving the trial court of the opportunity to first rule on the issue, so that we can then review such trial court ruling under the appropriate standard of review." *Henricks v. Henricks*, 32 So. 3d 1202, 1205-06 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010), *citing*, *Williams v. Skelton*, 6 So. 3d 428, 430 (Miss. 2009).

equitable interest in the subject property, and that the trial court committed error in failing to adjudicate his alleged equitable interest. This contention stems from a gratuitous statement made by the trial court in its ruling. The trial court stated that, although it may very well be that Albert Kea had an "equitable interest" in the property, this was not a chancery court. (TT at 137). The trial court then concluded that Lisa Keys had met her burden of proof and was entitled to possession of the subject property.

This alleged equitable interest, however, was never presented to the trial court for consideration either pre-trial, during trial, or through any post-trial motions. Mississippi law is clear that Albert Kea's failure to raise this matter in the trial court, renders the matter procedurally barred and waived. See also e.g. Cooper Tire & Rubber Co. v. Striplin, 652 So. 2d 1102, 1104 (Miss. 1995)(where alleged "equitable claim" raised for first time on appeal, issue is waived and not to be considered); Gooden v. Village of Woodgreen Homeowners Assoc., 662 So. 2d 1064, 1076 (Miss. 1995)(party procedurally barred from raising a defense for the first time on appeal); Henricks v. Henricks, 32 So. 3d 1202, 1205-06 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009)(issue not raised in trial court is barred on appeal); Evans v. Evans, 912 So. 2d 184, 187 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)(spouse's alleged claim that she was entitled to equitable distribution of certain property waived because not raised in trial court). For this reason, this Assignment of Error raised by Albert Kea has been waived and is procedurally barred from consideration on appeal.

B. No Citation to Legal Authority

Even if Albert Kea's alleged "equitable interest" was to be considered by this Court, Albert Kea cites to no legal authority or case law to establish that he had an equitable interest in the subject property, which even if the trial court would have considered it, would have entitled him to

possession of some of this property. Mississippi case law is well established in that a party's failure to cite to legal authority to support a claim or argument procedurally bars such issue from being considered on appeal. See e.g. In the Matter of Adoption of a Minor Child, 931 So. 2d 566, 578 (Miss. 2006); Carter v. Miss. Dept. Of Corr., 860 So. 2d 1187, 1193 (Miss. 2003).

For these reasons, this Assignment of Error raised by Albert Kea is procedurally barred from consideration on appeal.

- V. Albert Kea's Assertion That the Evidence Does Not Support the Trial Court's Award of the Property to Lisa Is Without Merit
 - A. Albert Kea's Claim of Discovery Abuse by Lisa Keys Should Be Disregarded

Before moving into a discussion of the substantive issues of this Assignment of Error, attention needs to be given to comments made by Albert Kea in Footnote 13 (Appellant's Brief at p. 23) and the portion of his Brief which talks about discovery issues with Lisa Keys. (Appellant Brief at pp. 22-23). Although Albert Kea does not state a separate assignment of error on the part of the trial court in failing to exclude Lisa's testimony and/or dismiss her claims because of alleged discovery violations, he does express an intention to urge this Court to reverse the trial court's decision because of this. (Fn.13, p. 23 of Appellant's Brief). However, except under well defined circumstances which are not applicable here, issues not raised as an assignment of error are not to be considered by the appellate court. *Read v. Southern Pine Elec. Power Assoc.*, 515 So. 2d 916 (Miss. 1987). For that reason, Lisa Keys asks this Court to disregard Albert's expression of his intent and to not consider his allegation of alleged discovery violations when considering those issues which are properly before this Court.

It should also be noted that when discovery violations have been considered this Court has

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